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Statement of Significance: Pavilion II is one of the
ten pavilions which face the Lawn, the original central
grounds of the University of Virginia, founded by Thomas
Jefferson in 1819. Along with the four other pavilions
which stand on the East Lawn, Pavilion II was designed
by Jefferson in the course of fifteen days in 1819, when
he was seventy-six years of age. The structure was
substantially completed by 1821.

Pavilion II is notable for its undisputed authorship,
its adaptation of the dimensions and details of an
ancient Roman temple, its architectural innovations,
its finely carved exterior and interior entablatures,
its 1list of distinguished residents, and its situation
as part of one of the finest architectural ensembles in
America.
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General History

Pavilion II, on the East Lawn of the University of Vir-
ginia, is part of an architectural ensemble that has

earned words of high praise throughout its history.

Soon after its completion, the Lawn was visited by Harvard
scholar George Ticknor, who wrote: "(It is) a mass of
buildings more beautiful than anything architectural in
New England, and more appropriate to an university than

71 Architect Stanford
White later spoke of the physical setting of the University

can be found, perhaps in the world."

as "the most perfect and exquisite group of collegiate
buildings in the world." And early in this century, archi-
tect/historian Fiske Kimball characterized the whole as
"the greatest surviving masterpiece of classic revival

in America; the most magnificent architectural creation
of 1ts day this side of the Atlantic."2

The origins of the University of Virginia, as an institut-
ion and as an architectural creation, date back to the late
18th century. The idea for a model university had been
germinating in Thomas Jefferson's mind for ten years or

more before he arrived at a solution in 1805.3 Writing

to Dr. Priestly in 1800, Jefferson criticized the College

of William and Mary: "...eccentric in its position, exposed
to all bilious diseases...WWe wish to establish in the upper
country an university on a plan broad, liberal and modern.™
In reference to its ideal form, Jefferson wrote in a letter
to Littleton Tazewell in 1805: "...an university should a
not be an house, but a village."5 Thus was revealed Jefferson's
unigue notion of an academical village plan for his univer-
sity, with library, lecture rooms, faculty residences and
student dormitories arranged around a central greén

space. In 1815 Jefferson sketched a rough plan of nine

2.
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identical equidistant pavilions connected by student rooms
and colonnades, facing an open-ended square6 (see Appendix,
figure 1).%In the course of the following year, with the
aid of Benjamin Latrobe, Jefferson finalized the present
scheme of ten pavilions of varyling designs flanking a
central rotunda (Maverick engraving, Appendix, figure
2). "

These pavilions were to be "a small and separate lodge

for each professorship, with only a hall below for his

class, and two chambers above for himself".7 Fach was to

be "a model of taste and good architecture, no two alike,

so as to serve as specimens for the Architectural lecturer".8
Their classical orders were to be derived from Palladio's
Four Books of Architecture and Freat de Chambray's

Parallele de 1'Architecture Antique.

What had begun as Albemarle Academy in 1803, and continued
as Central College (1816),9 was in 1817 being reorganized
as the future University of Virginia. In June of that year
a 153-acre parcel of land, one mile from Charlottesville,
{along with another 43-acre parcel 5/8 of a mile away),
was purchased from John . Perry by the proctor of Central
College for a consideration of $14?5.25.10 The larger par-
cel was to become the Lawn area, and the following October
the cornerstone of Pavilion VII was laid.

By 1819 the West Lawn pavilions were substantially completed,
and in that year Jefferson undertook the design of the

five pavilioné of the East Lawn, a task which he accomplished
within fifteen days. In a letter dated June 5, 1819, Jefferson
mentioned that he was about to begin the drawings for the

East Lawn; 1in a letter dated some two weeks later, he referred
to the drawings as nearly finished. At this time Mr. Jefferson

* Appendices included in HABS Field Records accompanying this report.
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was seventy-six years of age.11

For the particular design of Pavilion II, Jefferson adopted
the order, entablature frieze and dimensions of the Temple
of Fortuna Virilis in Rome. He referred to Palladio's
drawings for the unusual two-sided Ionic capitals (which,
according to Palladio, were unigue in ancient Rome),12
and the ornate frieze of cupids, garlands and ox skulls
(Appendix, figures 3 and 4). The cornice of Pavilion Il's
upstairs parlor was also derived from Palladio (Appendix,

figure 5).

For the plan of Pavilion II, Jefferson resorted to Robert
Morris' Select Architecture. In his masterly plan {(Appendix,

figure 6), Jefferson provided a small entry to shield the
other rooms from draughts. The large lecture room to the
right of the entry measured 20' by 40' (one of the largest
pavilion rooms he designed), with alcoves on either side
of the fireplace.l3 The professor's office was situated to
the left of the entry, with the stair hall and the "free-
standing" stair behind 1t. Upstairs were the professor's
parlor, with access to the balcony and to the other pav-
ilions, two bedrooms and a dressing room. In the basement
was a vast kitchen, along with a pantry and servants'

quar ters.

It is not commonly known that, preceeding this finalized
plan for Pavilion II, Jefferson did an earlier study for
the structure, which has survived (Appendix, figure 7).
This design was five, rather than three, bays wide on its
first floor. The portico used engaged columns and what
appear to be niched openings on elther side. The floor
plan was substantially the same as later built. As with
all his other pavilion drawings, Jefferson listed measure-
ments and specifications on the back of this study (Appendix,-jj

.
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figure 8).

Records show that the pavilions of the East Lawn were con-
structed more or less in order! beginning at the northern
end; thus Pavilion II was one of the first begun. Like
Pavilions IV and VI (and possibly VIII and X), Pavilion

IT was constructed by Richard Ware, a Philadelphia builger.
The bricks were molded and burned in the neighborhood by

14

John Perry, Curtis Carter, William Philips, Nathaniel
Chamberlain and A.B. Thorn. Much of the lumber for Pavilion
IT was supplied by Perry's Hydtraulic Mills near Charlottes-
ville. Both the exterior and interior friezes were executed
by W.J. Coffee, an artisan from the North. Since local
stone had proved too hard and flinty for the carving of

the Ionic capitals, these were ordered from Carrara, Italy
at a cost of 360 apiece. The greater part of the glass and
hargware came from firms in Richmond, namely John Van Lew

& Co., and Brockenborough & Hume. A.H. Brooks did the work
of sheeting all the pavilion roofs with tin.l” The total
cost of Pavilion II was listed as $10.863.57.16

Records state that by 1821, six pavilions were finished

and ready for occupancy.17 It seems safe to assume, given
the order of their construction, that the sixth pavilion
was number II. In 1822 it was noted that some of the carved
marble capitals ordered from Italy had not yet arrived,18
and possibly these were the ladt finishing touches on the

pavilion.

The University officially opened in 1825, with forty
students and a number of European professors. The pavilions
were to be rent-free for these professors, but were to be
"enclosed and improved" at their own expense. Pavilion II
was designated as the School of Anatomy and Surgery, but
remained uninhabited for two years. Until the appointment

5.
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of Dr. Johnson, the anatomy classes were taught by Pro-
fessors Dunglison and Pmmet, who lived in Pavilions X and
T respectively.l? Tt is likely that they used the lecture
room of Pavilion II for anatomical demonstraticns, since
the Anatomical Theater was not begun until 1826 and not
ready for use until the following year.20 The room was
also used for meetings of the Patrick Henry Society until
1829 .41

In 1827 the University appointed Dr. Thomas Johnson as
Demonstrator of Anatomy and Surgery, the first addition
to the original corps of professors.22 Dr. Johnson became
Pavilion II's first resident in June 182?,23 and was
appointed to the chair of Anatomy and Surgery in 1331.

By 1829 the lecture room of Pavilion 11 was no longer
used for anatomical demonstrations and lectures, which
now took place in the Anatomical Theater. As eventually
happened in all the pavilions, the lecture room of Pav-
ilion IT became ifs drawing room.

Dr. Augustus L. Warner succeeded in the chair of Anatomy
and Surgery in 1834, and resided in Pavilion II for the

next three years.ZLL

In August of 1837, Dr. James L. Cabell succeeded to the

chair of Anatomy, Phyfioleogy and Surgery,25 the first of

a long line of distingulished residents of Pavilion II.

Dr. Cabell was a nephew of Joseph C. Cabell, who as a

member of the General ﬁssembly was extremely helpful to

Thomas Jefferson in fdinding his university. For more than
fifty years Dr. Cabell served the University with distinction.
Under his hand, the Medical department grew until it became,.
before his death, one of the most prominent schools in the
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country for instruction in the theory of medicine.26

In 1846 he was appointed Chairman of the Faculty,27 and
in later life served as first president of the National
Board of Health, and as president of the American Public
Health Associlation.

In the course of his career, Dr. Cabell revealed a great
capacity for original ingquiry. He contributed frequent
articles to professional and scientific journals, and
was ahead of Darwin in publishing a work that recognized
the theory of evolution, his 1859 "Testimony to the Unity
of Mankind“.28 He also anticipated by many years Hugo de

Vries' theory of mutations.

In 1861 Dr. Cabell was given leave to serve as surgeon

for the Confederate States, while retaining his teaching-
post at the University.z9 He and the other medical pro-
fessors walked to the Charlottesville hospital every day

to treat the Confederate wounded. When General Sheridan
invaded the town it was feared that the school would be
burned, but General George Custer ordered that the property

30

be given every protection.

Dr Cabell inhabited Pavilion II for a total of fifty-three
years, the longest term of residence in pavilion history.
He resigned his professorship in 1889 for reasons of 1ill
health, but was allowed to retain the pavilion as long as
he wished. He died in June 1890.31

Pavilion II passed that year to Dr. William C. Dabney,
another important figure in the history of the University's
IMedical School. As professor of the practice of HMedicine,
Obstetrics and Medical Jurisprudence, Dabney was instrument-
al in reorganizing the fledical School, effecting sweeping
changes in its programs. By establishing and maintaining

7.
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a dispensary at the Uriilversity for charity patients, Dr.
Dabney introduced a revolutionary concept to medical
education: the practical demonstration of facts stated

in the lecture room. Dr. Dabney was a distinguished author-
ity on several subjects in the medical profession, and
made as many as fifty highly imporiant contributions to
medical literature.32 He was also the first president of

33

the liedical Ixamining Board of Virginia.

Dr. Dabney diecd in August 1894, In June of 1895, Dr. Augustus
H. Buckmaster succeeded to the chair of the practice of
illedicine, Cbstetrics and Gynecology, and to the residency

of Pavilion IZ[.BLL

In October of that year Pavilion II narrowly escaped
destruction during the Rotunda fire. A brisk north wind
had swept the fire from the Annex southward to the Rotunda,
and would almost certainly have spread it to Pavilions I
and 11 had there not been a sudden and fortunate change

in wind direction. At the height of the fire, wet blankets
were spread over the north wall of Pavilion II and kept
soaking by bucket brigades. To this day Paviliog51 still

bears scorch marks on the rafters in its attic.

Dr. Buckmaster was the last medical man to inhabit Pavilion
IT, and he retained i1 for less than a year. In March of
1896, Professor James A. Harrison was given the choice
between Pavilion Il and Pavilion VIII.36
I1I. Professor Harrison, head of the School of Teutonic
{later, Modern) Languages, was an able and creative student
of the writings of Edgar Allen Poe. He edited a 17-volume
edition of Poe's work; published in 1902 and still con-

sidered the best and fhst complete edition of Poe.o!

and chose number

Professor Harrison resigned in March 1909 due to failing

8.
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eyesight,38 and Pavilion Il passed that year to C. Alphonso
Smith, Professor of English and former dean of the graduate
school at the University of North Carolina. Professor Smith
was one of the ablest lecturers in the University's history;
in his seven years on the faculty his English classes were
among the most popular in the school.39 He was invited to
lecture at the University of Berlin from 1910 to 1911, where
he was well-received. He wrote several important works in
the field of American literature, his specialty belng the
history and structure of the Fnglish language.

Professor 53mith was perhaps the most indefatigable laborer
for the School of Education's Extension Leciure System,
organized in 1912-1913. He travelled throughout the South
between the years 1913 and 1916, and from January to March
alone in 1913 spoke on sixteen different occasions. Smith
also was president of the Folklore Society at the University,
and conducted a nationwide search in 1913 for versions of
0ld ballads that had originated in Virginia.uo

Professor Smith answered the call of war in 1917 and
left to Jjoin the Naval academy. By may of 1917 Professor

41

William Harry Heck occupied Pavilion II. Professor Heck

was the first bona fide professor of education at the Univers-
ity.42 He had been instrumental in forming the Extension
Lecture System.in 1912-1913, which was calculated to spread
the scholastic usefulness of the University. Professor Heck
was the system's first director, and he appointed twenty-

- seven lecturers to represent every department of the school.uB

During World War I Heck was the assistant Secretary of the

Feneral Education Board, and specialized in hyzicne in

the public schools.uq

Professor tieck was lecturing on the dangers of influenza

9.
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during the Great Epidemic of 1918-1919, when he tragically
caught it himself and died in January 1919. In 1922 the
school's library in Peabody Hall was named for him.

In kiarch 1919 Pavilion Il was assigned to Profeesor Ivey
Foreman Lewis,46 another long-term resident of the pavilion
(thirty-four years). In 1934 Lewis, a professor of Biology,
succeeded Lir. Page as Dean of the University. CGf Dean
Lewis, Janes Southall Wilson was to write: "His office was
administered with simplicity, sympathy and dignity...Stud-
ents have come into c¢loser relationship with Dean Lewis
than with any other officials of the University, and many
have expressed their respect and affection". Dean Lewis
enjoyed a national stature in the world of science as

well. At various times he served as president of the
American Society of Naturalists, the Botanical Society

of America and the American Biological Society.

At the time of his retirement in 1953, Dean Lewls was
dean of both the University and the College. In 1959 he
was awarded the Thomas Jefferson Award, the highest accolade

b7

that can be given a faculty member.

In the course of his residency in Pavilion II, Dean Lewis
became very interested in its history. He contributed some
relevant material to the Manuscripts Room of Alderman
Library, including a list of residents and a sketch of
the origiral floor plan of the pavilion (Appendix, figure
9). Though records prove wrong his contention that Drs.
Johnson and Yarner did not occupy Pavilion II, his floor
plan is reasonably accvrate, and it was likely through
Dean Lewis' influence that Pavilion II was chosen in 1952
as the first pavilion to be restored to its original
Jeffersonian design, and to serve as a model for later'_

pavilion restorations.

10.
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From 1953 to 1956 Pavilion II underwent extensive renovat-
ion and restoration under the supervision of ¥Mr. Frederick
D. Nichols, renowned authority on Jeffersonian architec ture.
Its walls were rebuilt on the original headers, and its
spaces recreated to be as exactly as possible as they were

in Jefferson's day.ua

In 1956 Lewis Hammond, professor of Philosophy, moved
into the newly restored pavilion. From 1951 to 1960
Professor Hammond served as the dean of the Graduate
School of Arts and Sciences, and from 1960 to 19645, held
the chair of the Department of Philosophy. Hammond also
served as president of the Society of Philosophy and
Psychology, andugas assistant Dean of the summer session

for many years.

Professor Hammond lived in Pavilion IT for twenty years,
retiring in 1976. That year Pavilion II received its
eleventh and present occcupants, the Zdwin Floyds. Dean
Floyd was the former head of the Depariment of Hathematics;
his work as a mathematiclan has been praised in the highest

50

of IKathematics, and in 1974 was appointed dean of the

terms. In 19656 he was named the Robert C. Taylor Professor
faculty of Arts and Sciences. In 1931 Dean Floyd became
provost and vice president of the University. In the fall

of 1981 he was awarded the University's prestigious Thomas
Jefferson Award.51

The Floyds, like the Hammonds before them, have expressed
an ongoing delight with pavilion life, and call the greatest

52

In such spirit they confirm and continue Jefferson's original

advantage to living on the Lawn as "knowing the students".

notion of communal life in an academical village.

11.
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History of Alterations

The first recorded alteration to the original plan of
Pavilion II occurred 2s early as July 1829. Dr. Johnson
asked that "a partiton be erected across the west end on
the first floor of that pavilion so as to extend the
entry of that pavilion to the south side of the house".
This may have been to create a private entrance for

the professor on the south side of the structure, with
the main entrance giving access to the professor's office
only (an arrangement similar to Pavilions III and VII).
At the same time, Johnson asked that the f%gors of the

pavilion be planed where they required it.

In July of 1834 Dr. Warner asked to be allowed to mike
5

unspecified "alterations about the house and lot",

In 1839 Dr. Cabell requested permission to make interior
changes to Pavilion I1, and to be reimbursed by the school
later.”?” In 1841 Dr. Cabell asked to "renew the porch in

the rear of Pavilion II, and enlarge it to the size of

that of Pavilion IV.56 This may have been the long addition
which is reflected on the 1913 plat of the grounds (Appendix,
figure 12). Records do show an addition to Pavilion II

being built sometime between 1832 and 1865 for a cost of
$?oo.99.57

In 1845 there were serious student riots on the Lawn, in
which many pavilion windows were broken. Thus the glass
panes of Pavilion TI-at least those in the windows facing
the Lawn-are probably not original.58

In 1912 central heating was installed in the pavilion,

and in Hay 1917 Professor Heck requested that needed re-
pairs be made to the building by way of painting and

12,
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papering. Decause of war shortages, these repairs were

q.29

postpone

The present two-story addition to Pavilion II (Rasement

and first floor) was constructed sometime between 1913

and 1923, The 1913 plat of the central grounds (Appendix,
figure 12) shows "Cabell's porch" still on the pavilion,
while a scale model of the University, built in 1923 and
now standing in the lobby of Miller Hall, shows the present
addition in place. It was likely constructed in the early
19208, as even the most minor repairs were difficult to
fund during the war years.

When Dean Lewis retired and was about to leave Pavilion

II, nhe helped persuade the Board of Visitors to hire
Frederick D. Hichols, newly arrived at the University,

to restore the original Jeffersonian spaces of the pavilion.
Structurally Pavilion II was still sound, but Jefferson's
finely proporiioned interiors had been lost. An arch had
been cut between the two rooms in front. A partition had
been built in the 1living room, the old lecture hall, which
cut off the windows on the southeast wall. The free-standing
staircase had been pushed against one wall.

The later partitions were removed and it was discovered
that the stair and rooms were originally framed exactly

as shown on Jefferson's drawings. The restoration followed
this original plan as closely as possible. When restored
to 1ts intended lines, the living room merited praise as
one of Jefferson's most exciting spaces. The free-standing
stairs were completely reconstructed on the old headers.
In the reordered space of the o0ld professor's office, the
original mantel had been at some point replaced by a Greek
revival mantel, while the fireplace in the room directly

13.
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below in the basement had been blocked up. Consegquently
this mantel was moved upstairs to the professor's office,

and the basement fireplace permanently sealed.éo

With the structural restoration completed, attention

turned to the finishing touches on Pavilion Ii. An original.
Franklin stove used by Thomas Jefferson at Monticello was
installed in the upstairs parlor (master bedroom). True

to Jefferson's idea of heating the upstairs rooms, the |
other bedrooms also acquired stoves in their fireplaces,
these in an American Empire design with brass ornaments.

The Hammonrds completed Fr. Nichols' restoration work with
oriental rugs, plush vzlvet sofas and a collection of”

61

Jefferson's personal texts.

Since 1976 the TIloyds have given Pavilion II an oriental
flavor, reflecting the fashion for chinoiserie in the

Federal period that is so well exemplified in the

"Chinese Chippendale"” ralillings which surround the Lawn.

The rooms of the pavilion are now replete with Chinese

vases and oriental carpets; oriental prints hang in almost
every room, s:me on loan from the Bayly #useum. Structurally
Pavilion II 1s again true to i1ts intended plan; artistically
it is likewise true tc the spirit of the age which gave

i1t 1ife, thanks to the historically sensitive tastes of

the Ployds.

14.
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Chain of Title/List of Residents

Location of Records: Transfer Reference Deed Books (DB)
are located in the Records Room of the Clerk of
the Circuit Court, Albemarle County Courthouse,
Charlottesville, Virginia. Historical references
to Pavilion II are located in the Winutes of
Rectors and Visiltors, BManuscripts Room, Alderman
Library, University of Virginia, and in several
works on the history of the University (cf.
Bibliography).

Original 3Sale of Land:

June, 1817 DB 20-356.

To: Alexander Garrett, proctor of Central College
From: John . Perry and his wife Francils

Two parcels of land, "...one mile above Charlottes-
ville, on the publick road to Staunton". One par-
cel consisted of 43 acres, while the second 153~
acre parcel, 5/8 of a mile away, "...comprise the
top and part of a mountain". It was on this second
parcel that the Lawn was built, Total cost of the
land was $1421.25.

Since the original sale, the land and tne buildings
thereon have remained the property of the University
of Virginia.

List of Residents:

flinutes, Rectors and Visitors, University of Virginia,
Yols. 1-2, p. 107:

Dr. Thomas Johnson, Demonstrator of Anatomy and Sur-
gery, is assigned to Pavilion IT, June, 1827.

Minutes, Vols. 1-2, p. 329-330:

Dr. Augustus L. Warner succeeds Dr. Johnson in the
chalir of Anatomy and Surgery and is assigned Pavilion
11, July, 1834.

i‘inutes, Vol. 3, p. 337:

Dr. James L. Cabell succeeds Dr. Warner in the chair
of Anatomy, Physiology and Surgery, and is assigned
Pavilion II, August, 1837.

Minutes, Vol. 5, p. 182.

15.
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Dr. Cabell resigns; Dr. William C. Dabney is assigned
Pavilion II; Dr. Cabell is allowed to retain the
pavilion "until it 1s convenient for him to move",
June 1889.

Minutes, Vol., 5, p. 290:

Dr. Cabell dies; Dr. Dabney acquires Pavilion II,
June 1890.

Minutes, Vol VI, p. 457:
Dr. Dabney dies, August 1894,
linutes, Vol. VI, p. 479:

Dr. Augustus H. Buckmaster succeeds to the chair of
the practice of lledicine, Obsteitrics and Gynecology
and is assigned Pavilion II, June 1895.

Minutes, Vol. VII, p. 82:

Professor James A. Harrison, head of the School of
Teutonic Languages, is given the choice between
"Professor Buckmaster's pavilion or Professor
Venable's pavilion (VIII?, March 1896. (Harrison
later chooses Pavilion II)

Minutes, Vol. VIII, p. 228:

Professor Harrison resigns; Pavilion II is assigned
to Dr. Charles Alphonso Smith, professor of English,
Miarch 1909.

tiinutes, Vol. IX, p. 71:

Professor William Harry Heck, of the School of
Education, 1s assigned Pavilion II, November 1916.

Minutes, Vol IX, p. 130:

Ivey I'. Lewis, professor of Biology, is assigned
Pavilion II, Karch 1919.

From 1953, when Dean Lewis retires, until 1956,
Favilion II undergoes extensive renovatlon and 1s
unoccupied.

In 1955, Lewis Hammond, professor Sf Philosophy,
moves into the restored pavilion. :

in 1976, when Professor Hammond retires, Dean
Fdwin Floyd acquires Pavilion II, and still
occupies thg pavilion at the present time
(May 1982
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General Statement

PAVILION I1 is a high-style, 2%-story Roman revival
temple front structure with a Tull height pedimented
Tonic portico. It was designed as a combination

faculty residence and lecture hall by Thomas Jefferson
in 1819, completed by 1821 and designated as the School
of Anatomy and Surgery in 1825. Its dimensions, unigue
two-sided Ionic capitals and garlanded entablature
frieze were adopted from Palladio's drawings of the
Temple of Fortuna Virilis in Rome. Its Tully pedimented
front, with roof carried continuously from front to
back. (like those of Pavilions I and 1IV), presaged the
coming of the Greek revival, when pure temple front
structures like it were built across the country in

the 1820s, "30s and '40s.

Originally Pavilion II consisted only of a simple
rectangular block, attached on its south wall to the
one-story student dormitories which connect all the
pavilions. In the 1840s a narrow porch addition was built
on the east (garden) side of the pavilion, which was
replaced in the 1920s by the present 2-story (basement
and first floor) addition. WMany familiar elements of
JefTersonian designh appear on the facade of Pavilion

II: triple-hung windows, Chinese Chippendale railings,
Roman revival decorative forms, and the characterist-
ically innovative use of iron tie rods to support the
upper balcony so that the Ionic columns remain unengaged,
said to he the first use of such rods in this country.

Its significance lies in its clearly established author-
ship, its Roman revival style, its Tinely carved exterior
frieze and interior cornicework, its long list of dis-
tinguished residents, and 1ts situation as part of one

ol the most beautiful and significant architectural
ensembles 1in America.
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Ixterior Description

Overall Dimensions: The original structure measures 34'1"
by 40'2". From ground level on the facade to the top
of the columns measures approximately 21'10"; to the
cornice soffit, 25'10"; to roof peak, 35'5". Due to
the sloping site, an additional 8'6" of basement wall
shows on the east (garden) side.

Foundations: Pavilion II has a high brick foundation with
a plain brick water table. Thickness 1s approximately
17%". tall height from exterior ground level to bottom
of sill ranges from approximately 6" on the facade
(west side) to 8'd" on the east side of the structure.
The foundation wall on the north side has been stuccoed,
with a 3' wide brick gutter running directly below it.

ixterior Sheathing: All exterior walls are of brick laid
in Flemish bond, except for the south wall, laid in
5-course American bond. The front facade 1s of smooth
refined brick, with mortar joints originally painted;
the side and back walls were built of somewhat coarser
brick. The tympanums of the east and west pediments
are of [flush boards.

Structural System: The original structure is of load-
bearing brick walls, of approximately 14" thickness.
vlood pegs as well as nails were used in construction
of the reof,

Porches: The full height pedimented portico of this
temple front structure is compriscd of four Ionic
columns ouilt in brick, stuccoed and painted white.
Fach column has an attic base and an Ionic capital
carved of Carrara marble. The portico forms part of
the covered colonnade which surrounds the Lawn.

The ceiling of the lower portico is the platform for
the upper balcony. This balcony, 34' across and 9'8"
deep, 1s protected by Chinese railings and is con-
nected to the other pavilions by means of the walkway
over the colonnade. -

A porch was added to the back of Pavilion II sometime
in the 1840s and removed in the 1920s, when the pre-
sent addition was builft.

Chimneys: The single original massive chimney, designed
by Jefferson to serve the entire pavilion, still
stands in the center of the structure. Construction
is of 5-course American bond brick, with stepped
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shoulders and a corbelled cap on the exterior, and
elaborate arch construction for support on the
interior, The common bond stack is not original.
At present the chimney serves six of its former
seven fireplaces with six separate flues, each
measuring 5" by 9".

Doorways/Dours: As opposed to Pavilions III and VII,
which have separate entrances to the professor's
office, Pavilion II has one main entrance, centrally
situated on the facade. A set of double, 6-panelled
doors with simple architrave moulding surrounds and
a transom fanlight leads into the pavilion. The orig-
inal garden entrance, which now connects the original
and later sections of the structure, is identical to
that on the front except for the removed double doors.
A slightly less tall set of doors, also 6~panelled
but with no transom light, leads from the former up-
stairs parlor to the outside balcony.

iWindows/Shutters: Two full length, triple-hung windows
with 6/6/6 lights flank the main entrance on the
facade of Pavilion II. The surrounds are simple
architrave mouldings. The panes measure 113" by 17
3/4", with muntins 3/4" wide. The rest of the windows
on the main floors of the pavilion are similar, but’
have 6/6 lights. Two fanlighted lunette windows are
set into the tympanum spaces of the east and west
pediments. 3/6-light windows prevail in the basement
rooms. Two smaller, G6-paned windows are set into
wells below the full length windows on the facade;
only &" of these windows show above ground level,
and the wells are covered by wire mesh grates.

Shutters of the fixed-louvre type are used for every
opening of the two main floors of Pavilion II except
for the balcony doors. The full length windows have
double shutters for the upper and lower portions; the
rest of the shutters are single, and all are held
back by iron shutter catches.

Roof: The rocf is a low pitch gable, to suit the temple
proportions of classical antiguity. Originally sheathed
in tin, the roof 1is now covered in slate. The deeply
molded cornice, with cyma recta moulding above egg-and-
dart and dentil ornament, adorns the pediments and
periphery of the pavilion, while the ornate garlanded
entablature frieze (which, lixe the rest of the cor-
nice, was adopted from the Temple of Fortuna Virilis)
appears only on the facade of the structure.
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Interior Description

Floor Plans: The basement floor plan, according to
Jefferson's scheme, consisted of five rooms: stair
hall, kitchen, servants' quarters, pantry and store
room, with fireplaces in the kitchen and servants’
quarters. At some undetermined time the original wall
separating the east and west sections of the basemént
was removed, the kitchen and servants' quarters ex-
panded and a new wall {(materials indicate early 20th
century)built approximately 52' in from the found-
ation wall. This narrow space 1s now a storage area.
In the 1950s rencvation the mantel in the servantg®
guarters was removed to the professor's office dir-
ectly above, as the original mantel from this room
had been replaced during the Greek revival period.
The serwvants' fireplace, which had been blocked up,
was subsequently sealed permanently. This room 1is
now a laundry room, while the 0ld kitchen is a large
recreatlion room.

The main floor of Pavilion II 1s a central hall plan
with its original Jeffersonian design restored in
the 1950s. The former lecture rocm of the School of
Anatomy and Surgery, which spang the length of the
original block, is situated to the right of the
shallow entrance hall, while to the left 1s the old
professor's office and behind it, the stair hall.
The lecture room, one of Jefferson's most exciting
spaces and the largest pavilion room he designed, is
now the living room. The professor's office is used
as a study.

On the second floor of the pavilion were originally

two bedrooms, the professor's parlor and a dressing
room, arranged on elther side of 2 long narrow hall-
way which spans the width of the pavilion. The parlor,
with its cornice of ox skulls and rosettes and its
double doors to the balcony, 1s now the master bed-
room; its fireplace holds a Franklin stove once used

by Jefferson at Monticello. The smaller bedrooms retain
their original uses, while the dressing room has been
divided into twoc bathrooms.

Stairway: The stairway of Pavilion II is frequently
called "free-standing", though strictly speaking this
applies only to the initial run on the first floor.

It is a dog-leg stair with both landing and winders,
open string with ornamental brackets. Characteristic
of Jefferson's stair designs, the balusters are simple
and the entire structure somewhat narrow. During the
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19505 restoration, the orliginal framing of the stalr-
case was discovered {much as Jefferson had designated),
and subsequently followed.

Flooring: The flooring, which is original, is of pine
planking throughout the pavilion, approximately 5"
wide.

Wall and Ceiling Finish: Walls are plaster on brick on
the original external walls, plaster on lath on the
interior walls; the latter all date from the 1950s
restoration.

Doorways/Doors: The only original doors left in the
pavilion are the 6-panelled double doors of the
main entrance and those on the balcony directly
above. The rest date from the 1950s restoration.
They are all designed in three tiers of moulded
panels, painted and grained.

Interior trim: All of the doors and windows of Pavilion
IT nave similar architraval surrounds. The windows on
the twe main floors have three recessed moulded panels
on each jamb and one above the upper sash. The fire-
places are all of simple Federal design, with carved
dentil work below the shelves. All the main rooms
have finely moulded cornices. The cornice of the
upstairs parlor by W.J. Coffee 1s especially exquis-
ite, consisting of a succession of triglyphs, ox
skulls and rosettes. A1l the rooms, save those in
the basement, have simple baseboards. The three down-
stairs rooms, plus the old parlor, alsc have cyma
reversa chair rails, approximately 4' from the floor.

Hardware: Though most of the original interlor hardware
of Pavilion II was lost during 1its many alterations,
the original iron shutter hinges and catches have
survived on the exterior, as well as the H hinges
of the front doors and the original tie rods which
Jeffersen used to support the balcony.
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Site and Surroundings

The Lawn: Pavilion II stands at the northeast corner
of the Lawn, ad)acent to the Rotunda terrace. Its
main axis runs cast-vest, with its temple-front facade
facing west onto the Lawm. Behind and below it stands
Hotel B, now known as VWashington Hall. From this
vantage point it 1s easy to see that Pavilion IT and
the rest of the Lawn buildings stand on a hilltop site.
The silte was specifically chosen for its healthy
orientation, as opposed to the low "disease-prone"
sround of the College of William and Mary.

Jefferson's first rough sketch in 1815 of nine pavilions
surrounding an open-ended square (Appendix, figure 1),
shows a hasty but important notation in the center:
"grass and trees". Clearly Jefferson intended the Lawn
to be planted with trees and not left a grassy sward,

as has often been suggested.

It is not known what species of iree Jefferson had in
mind in 1815, But the pavilion facades were meant
varticularly to be clearly viewed by students of
archltecture and anyone else interested in the
classical orders. The trees on the Lawn would have

to be such as not to obstruct these views. Consequent%g
Jefferson purchased in 1823 a number of locust trees,
suitably feathery-leaved and open-branched. These however
were gradually replaced with maple trees, which, at
least during the growing season, defeat Jefferson's
purpose of architectural education.in the round.

Another feature of the Lawn which haz been replaced

in the course of time is the gaslight, with which

the Lavn was once ringed. An early 20th century photo-
graph of Pavilion IT shows one of these graceful lamp
standard: just outside the pavilion door (Appendix,
Tigure 13).

The Garden: Thomas Jefferson's decision to enclose the
hotel and pavilion gardens of his university with
serpentine walls was based on economy as well as
aesthetics.Y? liot only would curving walls create more
sunny sheltered angles to nurture young plants, but
they could be built higher than a straight wall of
equal 1-brick thickness.

The garden walls were amonZ the last features of the
iiaverick plan to be carried out. The Rectors and g
Visitors decided in 1819 that, though the pavilions
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. would be rent-free for the ineoming professors, the
pardens would have to be enclosed and improved at the
professors' own expense.© Nevertheless the University
did eleet to "plant the gardens, east and west", in
1830,%/ by whieh time the serpentine walls were probab-
ly completed.

In June of 1853, Dr. Cabell was allowed to take down
the wall separating his garden from that of Hotel B
(then called "Moot Court") and use the entire space
himself. The result was one of the finest and largest
pavilion gardens of the Vietorian period; it descended
the hill below the pavilion on four broad terraces
{Appendix, Tigure 12)., This secheme survived until the
1960s. Biploglst Ivey Lewis grew many unusual species
in this garden during his lons residency (1919-1953),
and a Cucumber tree he planted still flourishes there.

The 1913 plat of the grounds also shows some aneillary
buildings in the large garden of Pavilion II, of
unknovn origin or purpose.

The year 1952 saw plans for the restoration of Pavilion
I in the making, and the eompleted restoration of
. the ¥West Lawn gardens, a project funded by the Garden
. Club of Virginia and designed by landsecape arehiteet
Alden Hopkins. In 1960 his assistant Donald Parker
undertook the reesonstruetion of the Zast Lawn gardens.
711th the ald of archaeologist James Knight, and the
flaverick engraving, the serpentine walls and conveniences
were rebuilt on thelr original lines, and Pavilion II's
garden becare once again a much smaller, almost square
space, arranged on tvo levels.

Parker found suffieient evidence for the kind of gar-
dens Jefferson would nave designed, by the p%ans,
letters and lists of plants he left behind.®® He devised
a formal, pleasant plan around existing dogwood, mimosa,
cingko, walnut and pine trees. In the lower garden
mugscadeine grapes and eormon figs espaliered lend
interezt to flowering shrubs and a contrast to phlox,
jonguils, iris, hyaeinths and eolumbine.©9
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